, 

Appellate Court No. 70057-0-1 
Supreme Court No. C\0\.\~/ a- :J 

SUPREME COURT 
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

IN THE MATTER OF THE MARRIAGE OF 

ROBERT E. ANDERSON, Petitioner, 

v. 

BEVERLY L. ANDERSON, Respondent. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 

Daniel W. Smith, 
Attorney for Petitioner 

\F ~UN~ll !, [D) 
ClERKOFTHESUPREMECOURT 
S STA1EOFWASHINGTON~~ 

Campbell, Dille, Barnett & Smith, PLLC 
317 South Meridian 
Puyallup, Washington 98371-0164 
P: (253) 848-3513 
WSBA #15206 

1 

OR I Gl NAL 

/'· 

"" ~ = ---4C: 
..r::- ~:;x) 
<- I'l-l c:: C1 
~~ ~;~-··, N 
w ~-ur-

::t> -u ~~· 
-o ~me 
:J.l: -'-J> -

::c:• r p(l) .. --ic:; 
o-

+ z< -



•

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is Robert Anderson, a Washington resident whose 

Social Security benefits have been awarded to his former wife, Beverly 

Anderson, CP 11-19,1 even though federal law precludes such division as 

part of a marital property distribution. In re Marriage of Zahm, 138 

Wn.2d 213,219, 978 P.2d 498 (1999). 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals 

dated April 28, 2014, App. Tab 1,2 ("the Opinion") and its subsequent 

denial of Petitioner's motion for reconsideration by its order dated May 

23,2014, App. Tab. 2. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is review of this case required to address the public's 

substantial interest in protecting divorcing citizens from losing their rights 

under the anti-alienation clause of the Social Security Act by stopping 

state courts from acting beyond their inherent authority in distributing 

Social Security Benefits through orders that are void under state and 

federal law? 

1 "CP" refers to the Clerk's Papers filed in the Court of Appeals. 
2 "App. Tab #" refers to the Appendix attached hereto. 
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2. Is review of this case required to address the public's 

substantial interest in protecting litigants' right under CR 60(b)(5) to seek 

relief from void orders that violate federal and state law and, therefore, are 

beyond a court's inherent authority or jurisdiction to issue? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Andersons were divorced by an Amended Decree of 

Dissolution entered on October 7, 1997, nunc pro tunc to July 3, 1997 

("the Decree"). CP 11-19. The Decree specifically awarded fifty percent 

of Mr. Anderson's Social Security benefits to his former wife each month 

until she commenced receiving her own Social Security benefits under her 

own claim. CP 18. At that time, Mr. Anderson's payment to Ms. Anderson 

would be reduced so that the overall payment from both Social Security 

benefit awards was divided equally between the two parties. CP 18. 

Paragraph 3.13 of the Decree states as follows: 

Social Security. When the husband commences 
receiving his Social Security benefits he shall pay 
fifty percent of the gross amount to the wife, each 
month, until the wife commences receiving Social 
Security benefits under her own claim. When she 
commences receiving her own Social Security 
benefits, the gross amount received by the wife 
shall be subtracted from the gross amount received 
by the husband, and the husband shall pay to the 
wife, one half of the difference between his benefit 
and her benefit on a monthly basis ..... said transfer 
shall continue to be made until the death of a party. 

3 



• 

CP 18. On September 9, 1999, the court entered an order by agreement 

that reaffirmed the court's order dividing the Social Security award. CP 

20-21. 

On October 12th, 2012, Mr. Anderson moved for relief from 

judgment pursuant to CR 60(b)(5). CP 44-46. He asserted the trial court 

had no authority to order the division of the Social Security income in the 

dissolution proceeding. CP 49-72, 73-76. The trial court denied Mr. 

Anderson's motion to vacate and denied his subsequent Motion for 

Reconsideration. CP 77-78, 83-87. Mr. Anderson appealed those decisions 

to Division I of the Court of Appeals. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

Under Rule 13.4(b), the Supreme Court will accept review "[i]f 

the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be 

determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). The citizens of this 

state have a substantial interest in ensuring that the courts avoid violating 

federal law or otherwise acting outside their inherent power when 

distributing marital property upon divorce, especially regarding citizens' 

rights under the anti-alienation provision of the Social Security Act. 

Marital property distribution orders are commonplace and impact a broad 

4 
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cross-section of this state's citizenry. The practical effect of the decision 

of the Court of Appeals in this case could be widespread, even though it is 

an unpublished opinion, because it will signal to trial judges that it is 

permissible for them to distribute Social Security benefits, even though 

doing so is contrary to law. Likewise, the public has a substantial interest 

in preserving litigants' right to challenge void orders by means of CR 

60(b)(5). Therefore, the Supreme Court should accept review in this case. 

A. The Trial Court Lacked the Inherent Power to Distribute 
Social Security Benefits, so its Decree Awarding Such 
Benefits to Ms. Anderson is Void. 

The Decree orders Mr. Anderson to pay Ms. Anderson a portion of 

the gross amount of his Social Security benefits each month until one of 

them dies. CP 18. The trial court lacked the inherent authority to take this 

action. Therefore, that portion of the order is void and was taken outside 

the jurisdiction of the court. 

(1) The Decree Illegally Distributes Social Security 
Benefits. 

Although the Court of Appeals reserved its opinion on the matter, 

it is clear that courts are not permitted to value and distribute Social 

Security benefits as the Superior Court did in its Decree regarding the 

Andersons. In reMarriage ofZahm, 138 Wn.2d 213, 219, 978 P.2d 498 

(1999), citing 42 U.S.C. § 407(a) of the Social Security Act, attached 
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hereto as App. Tab 3, and its interpretation under Hisquierdo v. 

Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. 572, 590, 99 S. Ct. 802, 59 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1979);3 see 

also In re Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn. App. 235, 244, 170 P.3d 572 

(2007) (the trial court cannot calculate a future value of Social Security 

monies and award that value as an offset, but it can consider the receipt of 

such benefits as a factor in its decision on the distribution of property). 

The relevant federal statute is Chapter 7 of Title 42, which deals with 

Social Security. Section 407(a) states, 

the right of any person to any future payment under this 
subchapter shall not be transferable or assignable at law or 
in equity, and none of the monies paid or payable or rights 
existing under this subchapter shall be subject to execution, 
levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process, or to 
the operation of any bankruptcy or insolvency law. 

42 USC§ 407(a), App. Tab 3. 

In Zahm, the Washington Supreme Court followed the United 

States Supreme Court and held that Social Security benefits are not subject 

to division in a dissolution proceeding: 

In 1979, the United States Supreme Court held the Federal 
Constitution's Supremacy Clause pre-empted California's 
community property laws. Hisquierdo v. Hisquierdo, 439 
U.S. 572, 590, 99 S. Ct. 802, 59 L. Ed.2d 1 (1979). The 

3 "Congress responded to Hisquierdo in 1983 by amending the Railroad Retirement Act 
to allow certain benefits, including those in Tier II, to be divisible. See 45 U.S.C. § 
231m(b)(2). Tier I benefits, however, remain subject to the Act's broad prohibition 
against division or assignment. The only exception is in cases of delinquent alimony 
and/or child support." Dapp v. Dapp, 211 Md. App. 323, 65 A.3d 214 (2013), App. Tab 
4. 
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judicial application of California's community property 
laws, therefore, could not supplant the terms of the Federal 
Railroad Retirement Act benefits and Federal Social 
Security benefits holding, in as much as both benefits are 
the products of non-contractual agreements, they are 
fundamentally similar. Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. at 574-75. 
The Supreme Court ultimately held Railroad Retirement 
Act benefits are not subject to distribution as property in a 
dissolution proceeding. Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. at 590. 
Given the Supreme Court's assertion of an affinity between 
Railroad Retirement Act benefits and Federal Social 
Security benefits in Hisquierdo, we conclude Social 
Security benefits themselves are not subject to division in a 
marital property distribution case. 

Zahm, 138 Wn.2d 213 at p. 219. The Zahm court also recognized 

that the benefits are separate and indivisible: 

We conclude that federal statutes secure Social Security 
benefits as the separate indivisible property of the spouse 
who earned them. This approach ensures that the benefits 
intended for the beneficiary reach that party and that the 
benefits are insulated from the occasional unpredictable 
fortunes of legal dispute. 

!d. at 220, citing Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. at 584. The possibility that one or 

both parties may receive Social Security benefits is a factor the court may 

consider in making its distribution of property. Rockwell, 141 Wn. App. at 

239. However, the court may not distribute Social Security benefits from 

one party to the other. !d. at 244. 

In the instant case, the trial court actually divided Mr. Anderson's 

Social Security benefits by awarding a portion of his share to Ms. 

Anderson. CP 18. Nonetheless, in the trial court, Ms. Anderson argued 
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that the Decree does not violate the law, because it purportedly does not 

transfer, assign, or subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment or 

any legal process Mr. Anderson's Social Security benefits. This argument 

is irreconcilable with Hisquierdo, in which the Supreme Court held that an 

offsetting property award in a specific amount after determining the value 

of a husband's retirement account to violate federal law. See Hisquierdo, 

439 U.S. at 588 ("An offsetting award, however, would upset the statutory 

balance and impair petitioner's economic security just as surely as would a 

regular deduction from his benefit check."). 

Additionally, the fact that the parties entered into an agreed order 

does not render the division of Social Security benefits legal. See Dapp, 

211 Md. App. at 330-31, App. Tab 4 ("It is true that this case involves a 

private agreement between the parties to divide benefits, whereas 

Hisquerado involved a court-ordered division of benefits under state law. 

But this is a distinction that makes no difference under the terms of the 

statute."). Thus, it is indisputable that the Superior Court awarded a 

portion of Mr. Anderson's monthly Social Security benefits to Ms. 

Anderson. CP 18. CP 18. This is a clear violation of 42 USC 407(a). The 

trial court erred when it upheld an illegal distribution of Social Security 

benefits based on a conclusion that the parties stipulated to the division. 

8 



Stipulated or otherwise, such an act is expressly forbidden by federal and 

state law and is void. 

(2) The Decree's Award of Social Security Benefits is 
Void and Beyond the Court's Inherent Authority and 
Jurisdiction. 

A judgment is void if "the court lacks jurisdiction of the parties or 

the subject matter or lacks the inherent power to enter the particular order 

involved." Bresolin v. Morris, 86 Wn. 2d 241, 245, 543 P.2d 325 (1975), 

Supplemental Op., Bresolin v. Morris, 88 Wn.2d 167, 558 P.2d 1350 

(1977). In this instance, the Decree's award of Mr. Anderson's Social 

Security benefits was outside the court's inherent power and void. 

Rather than inquire into whether the trial court acted beyond its 

inherent authority and issued a void order, the appeals court erroneously 

stopped its inquiry at whether the trial court had general subject matter 

jurisdiction over the type of proceeding, a divorce case. As the appeals 

court reasoned, 

The Washington Constitution specifically 
grants superior courts original jurisdiction in 
divorce matters .... Therefore, it was within 
the trial court's subject matter jurisdiction to 
enter a decree of dissolution. The provision 
distributing Social Security benefits may be 
erroneous-a possibility about which we 
express no opinion-but that is irrelevant to 
the subject matter jurisdiction inquiry." 

9 



Opinion, App. Tab 1 at 2-3.This approach is ill-advised and erroneous, 

however, because it permits courts to take illegal actions, as long as they 

do so as part of a proceeding over which they generally have subject 

matter jurisdiction. Indeed, courts from other jurisdictions have addressed 

this issue by asking whether the specific award was void and, therefore, 

beyond the scope of the lower court's subject matter jurisdiction and its 

inherent authority to act. 

For example, an Illinois court facing the same situation presented 

here determined that the trial court lacked jurisdiction to render the same 

kind of void order. See In Re Marriage of Hulstrom, 342 Ill. App. 3d 262, 

271-73, 794 N.E.2d 980, 987-89 (Ct. App. Ill. 2003), App. Tab 5 

(reversing as void the portion of the dissolution judgment incorporating 

the parties' settlement agreement to divide Social Security benefits and 

remanding). The Hulstrom's dissolution judgment incorporated the 

parties' settlement agreement that the parties would equally share Social 

Security benefits. !d. at 265. In a matter of first impression, the Illinois 

court followed two other jurisdictions-Arkansas and Nevada-in 

holding that a settlement agreement dividing Social Security benefits is 

void for violating the Social Security Act. !d. As the Illinois held, 

The trial court generally had jurisdiction over the 
parties and the dissolution proceedings, but the trial 

10 



court's incorporation of the defective settlement 
agreement into the judgment is void for lack of 
subject matter jurisdiction over the social security 
benefits. 

!d. at 273. The Hulstrom court reasoned that, although the trial court had 

jurisdiction over the parties and the dissolution proceedings in general, 

and the court had authority to incorporate a marital agreement into its 

judgment, the portion of the judgment incorporating the settlement 

agreement was void because it is preempted by the Social Security Act. !d. 

at 271-72. 

Similarly, a Colorado court determined that a settlement agreement 

provision that was incorporated into the divorce decree and required the 

husband to pay part of his future Social Security benefits to his former 

wife was void, because it violated the anti-assignment provision of the 

Social Security Act, 42 U.S.C.S. § 407(a), and the district court lacked 

jurisdiction to enforce it. See In ReMarriage of Anderson, 252 P.3d 490, 

494 (Ct. App. Colo. 201 0), App. Tab 6 (no relation to this case). In the 

Colorado case, the issue was whether spouses could contract between 

themselves to divide their property in a marriage dissolution in a way that 

requires one spouse to pay his future Social Security benefits to the other. 

!d. The Colorado court followed other courts in finding that the lower 

11 



court lacked the power to 1ssue its decree dividing Social Security 

benefits: 

Applying the Supremacy Clause, state courts have 
consistently held that the Social Security Act 
precludes them from treating Social Security 
benefits as property. Thus, state courts lack subject 
matter jurisdiction to divide parties' Social Security 
benefits in a property distribution. Moreover, as 
various courts have observed, and we agree, the 
thrust of those cases holding that the Social Security 
Act preempts state courts from transferring benefits 
as property is that state courts are without power to 
enforce private agreements dividing future 
payments of Social Security benefits when those 
agreements violate the prohibition against transfer 
or assignment of future benefits. 

!d. (internal citations omitted); but see Biondo v. Biondo, 291 Mich. App. 

720, 727, 809 N.W.2d 397, 401-02 (Ct. App. Mich. 2011), App. Tab 7, 

(the lower court erred by enforcing the provision dividing the Social 

Security benefits, but this error did not deprive the court of subject matter 

jurisdiction). 

Washington should follow the well-reasoned and pragmatic lead of 

the courts of Illinois, Colorado, Arkansas, and Nevada, and this Court 

should accept review of this case to prevent the lower courts of this state 

from issuing void orders that are contrary to federal law and beyond the 

scope of their inherent authority. 

12 



B. Mr. Anderson Properly Invoked CR 60(b)(5) to Attack the 
Void Judgment. 

In the present case, the trial court did not have jurisdiction or 

inherent power over the parties' Social Security Benefits. See 42 USC 

Section 407. Yet, the trial court specifically divided the Social Security 

benefits of the husband/respondent. CP 18. In order to get relief from this 

void order that was beyond the authority of the trial court to issue, Mr. 

Anderson moved to vacate the provision of his Decree involving the 

division of his Social Security Benefits. CP 44-72. The trial court denied 

his motion, finding that it was not brought within a reasonable time under 

Court Rule 60, and that in any event the Decree does not actually divide 

his Social Security Benefits. CP 77-78. 

CR 60(b)(5) provides "the court may relieve a party or his legal 

representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the 

following reasons: ... the judgment is void." As the Court of Appeals 

recognized in its Opinion, "[a] court may relieve a party from a void 

judgment regardless ofthe passage oftime." Opinion, Tab 1, at 1; see also 

Chai v. Kong, 122 Wn. App. 247, 254, 93 P.3d 936 (2004). Nonetheless, 

the appeals court concluded that 

Robert [Anderson] could have brought a 
direct appeal to challenge the Social 
Security provision of the dissolution decree 
within 30 days of its entry. . . . But he did 

13 



not. He cannot avoid the consequences of 
that failure by resort to CR 60(b)(5). 

Opinion, App. Tab 1 at 3. This conclusion turns the rule on its head. Of 

course, any litigant facing a void judgment could always challenge that 

order within thirty days of its entry. The entire point of CR 60(b )( 5) is that 

such litigants are not limited to doing so; rather, as the Court of Appeals 

readily acknowledged, there is no time limit on the right of a citizen to 

challenge a void order. 

The Decree violated the anti-alienation provision of the Social 

Security Act and acted beyond its authority by dividing Mr. Anderson's 

Social Security benefits. See, supra. The lack of legal authority to make 

the division of Social Security Benefits makes the order void. !d. A void 

order is void from the inception and a Motion to Vacate is not limited by 

any passing of time and the reasonableness requirement in CR 60(b) does 

not apply. This Court should accept review of this case to protect litigants' 

right to seek relief under CR 60(b ), without which litigants are vulnerable 

to the effects of void judgments. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

This case presents the rare circumstance in which this Court should 

accept review over an unpublished opinion. Every married person who 

receives Social Security benefits has an interest in ensuring that their right 

14 



under the anti-alienation provision of the Social Security Act remains in 

force. Additionally, every litigant subject to a void order has a substantial 

interest in preserving their ability to challenge them by means of CR 

60(b)(5). Therefore, the Supreme Court should accept review in this case.