Supreme Court No. 90436-7 Appellate Court No. 700570-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 25, 2014, 3:47 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE MATTER OF THE MARRIAGE OF

ROBERT E. ANDERSON, Petitioner

v.

BEVERLY L. ANDERSON, Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Ginger Edwards Buetow, WSBA#31099 Attorney for Respondent

Buetow Law Office, PLLC P.O. Box 1968 Issaquah, Washington 98027-0084 P: 425-394-4174

Email: ginger@buetowlaw.com

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Robert asserts review should be granted because the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest so that the citizens of this state can be ensured (1) that the courts avoid violating federal law or otherwise acting outside their inherent power when distributing marital property upon divorce, especially regarding citizens' rights under the antialienation provision of the Social Security Act; and, (2) that litigants' right

to challenge void orders by means of CR 60(b)(5) is preserved. Neither argument has merit, therefore the Petition for Review should be denied.

A. The Trial Court Did Not Violate Federal Law or Otherwise Act Outside It's Inherent Power When Distributing the Anderson's Marital Property

Under Section 3.13 of the Amended Decree, the trial court did not value or distribute Robert's social security benefits in violation of Federal law. Section 3.13 orders Robert to make financial support payments to Beverly whereby the amount of the payment was to be calculated based on the amount of social security benefits received by each party. The Amended Decree is not void and is within the jurisdiction of the court.

(1) The Trial Court Did Not Distribute Social Security Benefits from Robert to Beverly

The Court of Appeals, in addition to three family law trial judges, recognized that the provision under Section 3.13 titled Social Security was a methodology to establish an amount of financial spousal support for Beverly as part of an overall award in the Anderson's dissolution. The provision took into account that at some point in time, Beverly would receive social security benefits and that Robert's support obligation would then be reduced.

Pursuant to Section 407(a) of the Social Security Act, there was not a distribution of social security benefits or a violation of federal law.

App. Tab 4. In addition, Section 659(a), is an exception to Section 407(a) of the Social Security Act. Section 659(a) permits a purported division of social security benefits valid only if the parties intended the transfer to be alimony rather than a property division. Section 659(a)(i)(3)(A) defines as "alimony" as follows:

The term "alimony", when used in reference to the legal obligations of an individual to provide the same, means periodic payments of funds for the support and maintenance of the spouse (or former spouse) of the individual, and (subject to and in accordance with state law) includes separate maintenance, alimony pendente lite, maintenance, and spousal support, and includes attorney's fees, interest, and court costs when and to the extent that the same are expressly made recoverable as such pursuant to a decree, order or judgment issued in accordance with applicable State law by a court of competent jurisdiction. Emphasis added.

App. Tab 5. In this case the provision titled "Social Security" was an exception to Section 407(a) under Section 659(a).

In an unpublished case, the Court of Appeals of Washington, Division 3 had an opportunity to apply Section 659(a) to In re the Marriage of Triggs, No. 28469-1-III, Court of Appeals of Washington, Division 3, (August 25, 2011). App. Tab 6. In Triggs, the parties had been married almost 34 years prior to separation. In the divorce, the husband was order to pay \$1,700 per month in maintenance until he retires, and also ordered to pay as maintenance one half of the difference between his Social Security income and the wife's Social Security income once he

began to receive it. In applying 42 U.S.C. 659(a), the Court found that the trial court's order "does not purport to make a direct award to Judith of Michael's Social Security benefits. It merely calculates the amount of maintenance with reference to his future Social Security entitlement." This is exactly what occurred in the instant matter.

Division III relied on rulings from other states which applied 659(a) to 407(a). See Evans v. Evans, 111 N.C.App. 792, 798-99, 434 S.E.2d 856 (1993) (concluding that 42 U.S.C. § 407(a) does not bar a maintenance award of Social Security benefits because of the exception provided in § 659(a)); In re Marriage of Mikesell, 276 Mont. 403, 406, 916 P.2d 740 (1996) (recognizing that "legal process brought for the enforcement of a party's legal obligations to provide child support or make maintenance payments is a specific exception to the broad exemption from garnishment provided to social security benefits by 42 U.S.C. § 407"); c.f. Lanier v. Lanier, 278 Ga. 881, 882-83, 608 S.E.2d 213 (2005) (holding that Railroad Retirement Act benefits may constitute the source of alimony payments under federal law); In re Marriage of Flory, 171 Ill.App. 3d 822, 121 Ill. Dec. 701, 525 N.E.2d 1008 (1988) (recognizing that 42 U.S.C. § 659(a) contains an exception to the Railroad Retirement Act's anti-assignability clause with regard to a legal obligation to make alimony payments).

Additionally, an analysis of the cases cited by Robert, as well as rulings from other courts outside of the State of Washington, support the trial court's inherent power in that the provision titled "Social Security", Section 3.13 of the Amended Decree does not violate Section 407(a) of the Social Security Act.

The State of Washington's case, In re Marriage of Zahm, 138 Wn.2d 213, 978 P.2d 498 (1999) and the Federal case, Hisquierdo v. Hisquirdo, 439 U.S. 572, 590, 99 S. Ct. 802, 59 L.Ed.2d 1 (1979) are distinguishable from this case. At issue in Hisquierdo was whether the wife was entitled to a share of the railroad retirement benefits that would be due to her husband upon his retirement. The wife requested the court provide her with "an offsetting award of presently available community property to compensate her for her interest in petitioner's expected Railroad Retirement Act's benefits." The Supreme Court found the proposed arrangement tantamount to the prohibited reassignment of federal benefits. Hisquierdo, 439 U.S. at 588. In contrast, Judge Alsdorf did not conduct the kind of evaluation of social security benefits or offset prohibited in Hisquierdo. Robert's award of property was not affected by the support payments to be received by Beverly.

In Zahm, the husband's social benefits were characterized as community property and included in the distribution of community

property. The Court went so far as to issue a finding stating that 61% of the husband's social security was earned during marriage; however, the Court did not apportion the benefits. Zahm, 138 Wn.2d at 219. In contrast, Judge Alsdorf did not characterize Robert's social security benefits as community. Rather, both parties were awarded their "government entitlements."

Robert cites In re the Marriage of Anderson, 252 P.3d 490 (Colo.App.Div. 2 2010), Dapp v. Dapp, 211 Md. App. 323,, 65 A.3d 214 (2013). and In Re Marriage of Hulstrom, 342 Ill.App.3d 262, 794 N.E.2d 980 (Ill.App.2 Dist. 2003) in his brief. These cases are also distinguishable from this matter. In Anderson, the parties dissolved their marriage in 1994. A separation agreement, which the court incorporated into the decree, provided, in relevant part:

[a]s a provision of property settlement and not as spousal support, when the parties begin to receive benefits from Social Security after age sixty-five (65), [husband] shall pay to [wife] a monthly sum of Two Hundred Twenty-Five and no/100 Dollars (\$225.00) from his Social Security benefits. In the future, this amount will be increased or decreased by an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of any increase or decrease in [husband's] Social Security benefits. [Husband] will file to begin receiving Social Security benefits on or before March 1, 1994.

Anderson, 252 P.3d at 492-493. The Anderson court ordered a specific amount to be taken from the husband's Social Security benefits, as well as ordered the amount be taken "from his Social Security benefits" to begin

the same year the parties divorced. <u>Emphasis added</u>. In contrast, Judge Alsdorf calculated an amount based Social Security benefits received, but he did not order that the support payment was to be paid from the actual benefits received by Robert.

In <u>Dapp</u>, the wife waived her right to "alimony and other spousal support" and was entitled to "one-half (1/2) of the all pension accrued by the Husband with Amtrak...." <u>Dapp</u> 211 Md. App. at 325. The trial court lumped the husband's Tier 1 and Tier 2 pension benefits despite the fact that Tier 1 benefits are the equivalent of social security benefits. <u>Dapp</u> clearly violates Section 407(b) of the Social Security Act in that the husband's Tier 1 benefits were actually transferred when they were lumped with the Tier 2 benefits. In contrast, Judge Alsdorf did not characterize Robert's social security benefits as community; nor, did he mix community with separate property.

In <u>Hulstrom</u>, at the time the decree of dissolution was entered the parties were already 65 and 67 and each were receiving social security benefits. Under the decree, which incorporated a marital settlement agreement, the Court ordered

1. The Social Security paid on behalf of [petitioner] and [respondent] shall be combined monthly and paid to [respondent], where, on the tenth of each month, one-half of the combined Social Security payment shall be deposited by direct deposit from [respondent's] account into an account designated by [petitioner].

To the extent that such Social Security payments to either party are income, and to such an extent that the party who receives the greater amount of Social Security receives income from the party to whom the greatest amount of Social Security is paid, that amount of Social Security shall be income to the receiving party to the extent that it was income to the paying party...

8. To the fullest extent provided by law, each party waives maintenance now and all times in the future."

Hulstrom, 794 N.E.2d at 982. Ordering the parties to combine their benefits and then split the amount via a direct deposit violates Section 407(b) of the Social Security Act. The court found that the language of the settlement agreement indicates that the parties intended the social security benefits to be marital property rather than maintenance. Hulstrom, 794 N.E.2d at 986. In contrast, Judge Alsdorf did not order the parties to combine their incomes or set a time when the support payment be made each month. Further, unlike the language in Hulstrom, maintenance was not specifically waived by Beverly.

The Court of Appeals in the <u>Hulstrom</u> matter cited <u>Boulter v</u>

<u>Boulter</u>, 113 Nev. 74, 930 P.2d 112 (1997) to support its decision. See,

<u>Hulstrom</u>, 794 N.E.2d at 984-985. <u>Boulter</u> is also distinguishable from
this matter. In <u>Boulter</u>, the trial court dissolved the parties' 37-year
marriage and incorporated a property settlement agreement into the decree
of dissolution. The following paragraph in the decree was found to violate
the Social Security Act:

Each party is eligible to receive Social Security Benefits at normal retirement age. The parties have agreed to equalize Social Security Benefits as they are received during their joint lifetimes. Husband agrees to pay to wife one-half of each monthly Social Security check he receives. Wife agrees likewise to split equally with husband each Social Security check she receives. The parties will arrange with Social Security to have the Social Security checks deposited directly into their respective bank accounts, and shall arrange with their banks for an automatic transfer of the other party's share as set forth herein. Emphasis added.

Boulter, 930 P.2d at 112, Notes [1]. In contrast, Judge Alsdorf did not order the Andersons to pool and then split their social security benefits equally. Robert was ordered to make a spousal support payment to Beverly based on an amount he was to receive in social security benefits and it did not matter where the money came from to make the payment.

The parties agreed under the CR2A Settlement Agreement that under Section 3.13 titled Social Security, spousal support would continue. Section 3.13 is a financial provision for the payment of support for a marriage of 39 years in which the parties lacked retirement funds.

(2) The Trial Court had inherent authority and jurisdiction because the Decree did not award Social Security benefits and therefore is not void.

It is well established that in a dissolution action, all property, community and separate, including social security benefits, is before the court for consideration. <u>In re Marriage of Stachofsky</u>, 90 Wn.App. 135, 142, 951 P.2d 346 (1998), In re Marriage of Zahm, 138 Wn.2d at 219. The

applicable statutes for maintenance and property distribution are RCW 26.09.080 and .090. In determining spousal maintenance, the court is governed strongly by the need of one party and the ability of the other party to pay an award. <u>In re Marriage of Washburn</u>, 101 Wn.2d 168, 182, 677 P.2d 152 (1984) (RCW 26.09.090 places emphasis on the justness of an award, not its method of calculation).

The trial court's paramount concern is the economic condition of the parties. In re Marriage of Crosetto, 82 Wn.App. 545, 556, 918 P.2d 954 (1996). In a long term marriage of 25 years or more, the trial court's objective is to place the parties in roughly equal financial positions for the rest of their lives. Washington Family Law Deskbook, § 32.3(3) at 17 (2d. ed. 2000); see also, Sullivan v. Sullivan, 52 Wash. 160, 164, 100 P. 321 (1909).

The Court of Appeals revises a maintenance award for abuse of discretion. Zahm, 138 Wn.2d at 226-27. The only limitation on amount and duration of maintenance under RCW 26.09.090 is that, in light of the relevant factors, the award must be just. In re Marriage of Luckey, 73 Wn.App. 201, 209, 868 P.2d 189 (1994). In addition, the Court of Appeals will seldom modify a trial court's division of property and assets on appeal, and the spouse who challenges such a decision bears a heavy burden to show a manifest abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court.

This deferential standard of review exists because the trial court is "in the best position to assess the assets and liabilities of the parties" in order to determine what constitutes an equitable outcome. <u>In re Marriage of Brewer</u>, 137 Wn.2d 756, 769, 976 P.2d 102 (1999).

Robert failed to show a manifest abuse of discretion on the party of the trial court. Had Robert raised the issue by appealing the Decree/Amended Decree pursuant to RAP 5.2, or had he brought a CR 60(b)(5) motion when he began making support payments, his argument that his support payments violated Federal law would be a little more believable. However, the fact remains that this was a long term marriage in which Beverly required financial support and that support was calculated on an amount Robert would eventually receive as Social Security benefits. It was only after Beverly sought enforcement by the Court for Robert's unpaid financial obligations did he assert the Decree was void.

The trial court did not require Robert's social security benefits to be subject to execution, levy, attachment, garnishment, or other legal process. There was no process ordered to ensure that once Robert received his social security benefits that the funds were immediately attached or garnished. The amount of social security benefits received by Robert was merely a methodology to provide an amount to be paid as

financial support to Beverly for a 39 year marriage in which the parties did not have retirement savings.

Under RCW 26.09, the trial court had the inherent authority to award spousal support and to make an overall just and equitable division of the parties' assets. In doing so, Judge Alsdorf could consider the social security benefits to be received by the Andersons.

B. Robert Did Not Properly Invoke CR 60(b)

The Court of Appeals was correct in finding that the trial court has subject matter jurisdiction in this matter. In re Marriage of Buecking, 179 Wn.2d 438, 449-50, 316 P.3d 999 (2013) citing WASH. CONST. art. 4, § 6. Robert clearly is avoiding his spousal support obligations by claiming the provision is void and that he can modify the decree pursuant to a CR 60(b)(5) motion.

A motion to vacate a judgment is to be considered and decided by the trial court in the exercise of its discretion, and its decision should be overturned on appeal only if it plainly appears that it has abused that discretion. Martin v. Pickering, 85 Wash.2d 241, 533 P.2d 380 (1975). The Court of Appeals rightly found that the trial court did not abuse that discretion and did not need to take the next step to address Robert's allegations of erroneous distribution.

If a decree is not void, then a party has a certain time limit under CR60(b)(5) in which to attach a judgment. Since the trial court found that the judgment in this matter was not void, then under CR60(b), the motion was also not timely. Any motion under Rule 60(b) must be brought within a "reasonable" time. State v. Ward, 125 Wn. App. 374,380, 104 P.3d 751 (2005). In Ward, the defendant moved to withdraw a stipulation/judgment under CR 60(b)(5) and (11) because of a court decision issued two years after his stipulation that interpreted a statute which constituted a significant change in the law.

The defendant in <u>Ward</u> was unable to establish that the court lacked jurisdiction of the parties or of the subject matter, or lacked the inherent power to make or enter the particular order involved and was not entitled to relief from judgment under CR 60(b)(5). <u>Ward</u> 125 Wn. App. at 379. In addition, because the Court accepted Ward's stipulation, the judgment could not be void under CR 60(b)(5). <u>Ward</u> at 375-376. Ten years was also found to be an unreasonable amount of time to bring a CR 60(b)(11) motion and the defendant also failed to provide a good reason for failing to take appropriate action sooner. Ward, at 380-381.

Similarly, the trial court in this matter had both personal and subject matter jurisdiction and also accepted the Anderson's CR2A Settlement Agreement regarding spousal support. And, just as in Ward, Robert also

has not stated any good reason to why he never claimed the support provision under Section 3.13 to void prior to filing his motion to vacate in October 2012. Emphasis added.

C. Redistribution of Marital Assets and Receipt of Maintenance

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